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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) FHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The early nineteenth century Cornelius House is situated in a grove of trees on a knoll
above Lake Norman (formerly Cornelius Creek).

The Cornelius House exemplifies the Federal tripartite house type, which is rare for the
Piedmont area of North Carolina and unique in Iredell County. A "T"-shaped frame building
with a two-gtory center gection and one-story wings on either side, the house has a field-
gtone foundation and a Flemish bond single shoulder chimney at each extremity. Late
nineteenth and early twentieth century one-story Victorian additions (rooms and porches)
have occurred, filling out the ground plan to a square. According to present owner Henry
Cornelius, there wes onee a porte-cochere on the front of the house large enough for buggisg
to drive underneath. Stored on the property are two §" square posts with large corner heads
which may originally have been part of the porte-cochare. Alsc in storage are shutters with
unusually wide louvers which wersz earlier removed from the house.

The Corneliue Housgse is relatively simple in detail despite its formal plan. Interior
detailing is applied congistently throughout the original part of the houge and is re-
markably intact. Mantels are transitional Georgian/Federal in style with a molded fireplace
surround, a plain frieze flanked by a Doric pilaster corner treatment, and a heavily molded
cornice and shelf which is blocked outward at the pilastered corners. Doors of aix flat
panels and 9/9 sash windows predominate. Both doors and windows have casings with molded
back bands. Those of the windows extend to the floor creating panela or aprons in the
simple wainscot below the windows. Interior walls and ceilings are flush sheathed, and
molded chair rails and baseboards encircle the rooms. The open string stair, with simple
balustrade and slender turned newel, has exagpgerated brackets in the shape of cresting
waves .

The Cornelius House is immediately surrounded by trees. Various twentieth century farm
buildings, including a large frame and cinderblock dairy barn, are located on the property
not far from the houge, mostly on the south and east sides (the house faces north). The
only outbuilding of interest is a two-story frame building, poasibly a granary, with gable
roof which overhangs the front wall. It appears to date from the second half of the nine-
teenth century. Near this structure are the overgrown remains of a stone and brick chimney
which apparently was part of another early structure on the property.

The Cornelius House is now vacant and 18 becoming dilapidated., !YNevertheless, the house
and its details are remarkably intact and are well worth a concerted preservation effort.
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BUILDER/ARCHITECT

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Cornelius Hougse, probably built ca. 1820 to 1830, is a rare example in westevn North
Carolina of the academic Palladian tripartite plan, with a two-story central block and
flanking one-gtory wings, which was popular in Virginie in the eighteenth century and

spread throughout the South in the nineteenth century.

Although the beauty of the exterior

magsing has been somewhat compromised by late Victorian additions within each rear neck
of the T-ghaped plan, the original interior of Federal design is well preserved.

CRITERIA ASSESSMENT

The Cornelius House embodies the distinctive characteristics of the tripartite plan, here
interpreted with Federal style detailing typical of Piedmont North Carolina houses built

during the 18208 and 1830s.
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HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Unique in Iredell County, the Cornelius House is a rare example in piedmont North Carolina

of the academic tripartite plan, which was popular in Virginia i¥ the eighteenth century

and spread fhroughout the South in the early nineteenth century. The Federal architectural
detailing found throughout the dwelling suggests it was built in the first decades of the
18008; vet the first recorded ownership of the property upon which thﬁ dwelling stands does
not appear in the surviving documentary records until the late 1840s. Thus either an un=
recorded deed or will prevents a cevtain knowledge of the builder of this plantation house.
On 15 March 1843 Joseph F. Gillespie of Mecklenburg County, a rather wealthy planter of some
pretensions, married widow Terisa P. Sloan of Rowan County; and although both parties owned
extensive tracts of lagd in their respective counties, neither apparently owned land at this
time in south Iredell. Soon afterward, however, the newly married couple and their family
settled into the Cornelius House, which was then the manor house for a plantation of some
1,000 acres. Exactly how, when, and from whom Joseph F. Gillespie acquired this land could
not be determined, but it seems safe to surmise that the Cormelius House was already standing
when he did; it is very unlikely that a wealthx planter like Gillespie would have ccnstructed
such a retardative dwelling in the late 1840s.

Joseph F. Gillespie was born in 1800, probably in the upper end of Mecklenburg County just
south of the Iredell boundary. His parentgge has remained obscure, although he seems to

have come from a rather well-to-do family.” ' As a young man he established a sizable planta-
tion along Rocky River in northern Mecklenburg near the Charlotte to Statesville Road, and he
apparently prospered during tge early antebellum years; the 1840 census recorded him as the
master of twenty~-four slavesg. After the death of his first wife (whose name has also re-
mained unknown) and marriage to Terisa P. Sloan, Gillespie sold his Mecklenburg plantation,
rented out the new Mrg. Gillespie's Rowan lands, and settled his new family across the bound-
ary in gouth Iredell.

The 1850 census recorded Joseph F. Gillespie, wife Terisa, and eight family members (three
children from Joseph's first marriage, four from Terisa's previous union, and an infant of
their own) along with overseer W. W. Neil as living under the roof of the Cocrnmelius House.
Worked by twenty slaves, the plantation's 1,000 acres, 150 of which were imprgved, produced
large quantities of cotton and corn and supported a good number of livestock. Following the
death of Joseph F. Gillespie intestate in 1856, the plantation was divided among his large
family by the court; widow Terisa received the dwelling house and some 288 acres as her dower.
Mrs. Gillespie and her young son James continued to farm the plantation on a much smaller scal
until after the Civil War, when Mrs. Gillespie returned to her Rowan giunty property and lease
the Cornelius House and dower tract to the family of James A. Ramsey. Various members of
Ramsey's family and Ramsey kinsmen farmed the tract throughout the 1870s, and the multitudinou

MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES

Charlotte Journal, The (Statesville) Landmark, and Statesville Sentinel (newspapers),
microfilm copy, State Archives.

Cornelius, Bert, author's interview with. Mooresville, 12 March 1980.

Federal Census Records, 1790-1900, microfilm copy, State Archives.

IGEOGRAPHICAL DATA

ACREAGE OF NOMINATED PROPERTY 33 acres
UTM REFERENCES

Alll7l [Slllllgﬁgloi 13191492]35610j Bll IZi 511,1 |3!9|1“2| 31 ﬁl “j
ZOME EAST!Né NORTHING

ZONE EASTING NORTHING
cliyz) Islilej0,0] 13,914,219, 7,5 olr.z] Islii1lsgo,0!
VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION That part of Tract 11 lying east of SR 13/8 and north of
SR 1302, in Block A, Map 2R, Davidson Township, as outlined in red on map.
The property being nominated includes the house and the surrognding 33 acres, which is all ?f;
the tract that remains uninterrupted by roads. This acreage is necessary to help preserve the
rural quality of the property in the face of encroaching lakefront development.
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Historical Background (Cont'd)

Ram8e¥§ acquired other portions of the original plantation from the Gillespie heirs as
well.

After the death of Mrs. Terisa Sloan Gillespie in 1884, title to the dower tract descended

to the six remaining Gillespie heirs, who each proceeded to sell their 1/6 interests to
various parties including the families Ramsey, Cornelius, Patterson, and Cowles, among others.
Further complicating the title was the fact that the Ramsey interests were encumbered by heavy
mortgages, and upon their default various creditors joined the claim for Gillespie plantation
lands. As one might expect, a messy %&tigation ensued, and the actual property title was
contested in court from 1884 to 1896. In April of that year, Clarence H. Cornelius finally
secured a clear title tolghe dwelling by purchasing it and the surrounding 100 acres at a
sheriff’s sale for $704.

The association of the Cornelius family with the house that now bears their name, however, dat
back some thirteen years before the above sale, when Albertyg Cornelius (Clarence's father)
purchased a 1/2 interest in the Gillespie lands for $3,000. The next year (1884) he secured
an interest in the dwelling itself from the Ramseys, and the Cornelius faTély apparently pos-~
segsed the house during the twelve years of litigation from 1884 to 1896. A 1884 court
deposgition stated that Albertus Cornelius had made 'valuable improvements to the dwelling,"
undoubtedly the late Victorian additions within eTgh rear neck of the original T-ghaped plan
which today fill out the ground plan to a square. A fairly well-to-do south Iredell farmer,
Albertus Cornelius (1838-1891), whose plantation and homestead lay just south of the Gillespie
land, apparently purchased "the old Ramsey place” for members of his large and expanding famil
and son Clarence H. (1868-1920) eventgglly secured ownership to the property as discussed (his
descendants own the structure today). The family of Clarence H. Cornelius operated the
plantation as a dairy farm well into the twentieth century, and various nineteenth and twentie
century farm buildings now surround the dwelling, including a late nineteenth century two-
story granary. Remnants of a stone and brick chimney which apparently was part of another
early structure on the property are located near the granary. The Cornelius House itself is
now vacant and rapidly deteriorating, and it is hoped that a concerted preservation effort

may save this unique Iredell property.
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Iredell, Mecklenburg, and Rowan County Records: Deeds, Estates Papers, Court Minutes, Wills,
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Keever, Homer M. Iredell-Piedmont County. Stategville: Iredell County Bicentennial
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FOOTNOTES

1Notes compiled by Ruth Little-Stokes and Laura A. W. Phillips, Cornelius House
folder, Survey and Planning Branch files, Division of Archives and History, Raleigh, here-
inafter cited as Survey and Planning Branch files.

2Iredell County Estates Papers, Joseph F. Gillespie folder, State Archives, hereinafter
cited as Iredell County Estates Papers.

3Charlotte Journal, March 30, 1843. Terisa P. S5loan was the widow of Henry Sloan
(d. 1839), who owned considerable property in the Mooresville region of Rowan County (Rowan
County Estates Papers, Henry Sloan folder).

4An extensive search of the deeds, wills, and estates papers of Rowan, Mecklenburg, and
Iredell counties failed to produce any record of Joseph F. Gillespie's acquisition of the land
in question.

5’I’he multitudinous Gillespie family settled throughout the Rowan-Iredell-Mecklenburg
area during the 1750s. They apparently originated from Maryland. See Robert W. Ramsey,
Carolina Cradle: Settlement of the Northwest Carolina Frontier, 1747-1762 (Chapel Hill:
The University of North Carolina Press, 1964), 40-42.

6Meck1enburg County Deeds, Book 21, p. 24; Book 23, p. 451, microfilm copy, State Archive
hereinafter cited as Mecklenburg County Deads; Fifth Census 1840: Mecklenburg County, North
Carolina, Population Schedule, 281, microfilm copy, State Archives, hereinafter cited as Fifth
Census, 1840, with appropriate schedules and page numbers.

7Meck1enburg County Deeds, Book 23, p. 259, 387; Book 25, p. 396; Book 1, p. 83; Iredell
County Estates Papers, Joseph F. Gillespie folder.

8Si:{th Census, 1850: 1Iredell County, North Carolina, Population Schedule, 208.
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Footnotes (Cont'd)

9Sixth Census, 1850: Iredell County, North Carolina, Slave Schedule, 344; Agricultural
Schedule, 17. 1In 1850 the Gillespie plantation produced 175 bushels of wheat; 1,300 bushels
of corn; 100 bushels of oats; various other produce; and 25 bales of ginned cotton weighing
400 1bs. each. Livestock included 9 horses, 2 asses, 15 milk cows, 15 cattle, 20 sheep, and
75 swine, valued collectively at $800. Total cash value of the farm was assessed at $4,600.

1OIredell County Estates Papers, Joseph F. Gillespie folder; Ivredell County Deeds, Book 1,
p. 377.

11Seventh Census, 1860: Iredell County, North Carolina, Population Schedule, 32; Slave
Schedule, 537; Agricultural Schedule, 17; Eighth Census, 1870: Iredell County, North Carolina
Population Schedule, Davidson Township.

121rede11 County Deedg, Book 4, p. 754; Book 6, p. 743.

131rede11 County Estates Papers, Joseph F. Gillespie folder; Albertus Cornelius folder;
Iredell County Deeds, Book 4, p. 754; Book 6, p. 743; Book 11, p. 70; Book 13, p. 575; Book 17
p- 20.

141rede11 County Deeds, Book 21, p. 323; Iredell County Estates Papers, Joseph F. Gillespi
folder; Albertus Cornelius folder.

1511@d@11 County Deeds, Book 21, p. 323; TIredell County Estates Papers, Joseph F. Gillespi
folder; Albertus Cornelius folder.

161redell County Deeds, Book 11, p. 70.

17Iredell County Deeds, Book 17, p. 20; Iredell County Estates Papers, Albertus Cornelius
folder; Joseph F. Gillespie folder.

181redell County Estates Papers, Joseph F. Gillespie folder; Albertus Cornelius folder.

19Author'g interview with Bert Cornelius, Mooresville, 12 March 1980 (notes in Cornelius

folder).
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